overSEAS 2013

This thesis was submitted by its author to the School of English and American Studies, Eötvös Loránd University, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts. It was found to be among the best theses submitted in 2013, therefore it was decorated with the School's Outstanding Thesis Award. As such it is published in the form it was submitted in **overSEAS 2013** (http://seas3.elte.hu/overseas/2013.html)

Certificate of Research

By my signature below, I certify that my ELTE MA thesis, entitled The relationship between motivation, self-efficacy and foreign language anxiety: An investigation of non-native English teachers is entirely the result of my own work, and that no degree has previously been conferred upon me for this work. In my thesis I have cited all the sources (printed, electronic or oral) I have used faithfully and have always indicated their origin. The electronic version of my thesis (in PDF format) is a true representation (identical copy) of this printed version. If this pledge is found to be false, I realize that I will be subject to penalties up to and including the forfeiture of the degree earned by my thesis.

Date:

Signed:

EÖTVÖS LORÁND TUDOMÁNYEGYETEM Bölcsészettudományi Kar

DIPLOMAMUNKA MA THESIS

A motiváció, az önhatékonyság és az idegennyelvi-szorongás kapcsolata: nem anyanyelvű tanárok vizsgálata

The relationship between motivation, self-efficacy and foreign language anxiety: An investigation of non-native English teachers

Témavezető: Dr. Csizér Kata Tudományos Munkatárs, Phd **Készítette:** Ness Simon Andrew Anglisztika MA Alkalmazott Nyelvészet

2013

Abstract

Whilst there is a considerable volume of research related to motivated language learning behaviour, little is known about the motivation to teach. However, it is accepted that motivated teachers contribute to student motivation, which is known to enhance the potential for successful learning. A sample of one hundred Hungarian teachers from the state school system agreed to participate in this quantitative study which aimed to 1) validate the L2 motivational self-system for non-native teachers; 2) examine the links between motivation, foreign language anxiety and self-efficacy; and 3) test the theoretical new element of pronunciation anxiety. The results show that the L2 motivational self-system does not apply to the respondents and that the teachers' motivational profile is directly influenced by their foreign language anxiety. The results offer the potential for further research in this area and may have implications for the future development of teacher training programmes.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Literature Review	3
 Foreign Language Anxiety 	3
 Self-efficacy 	10
 Motivation 	14
Research Methods	22
 Participants 	23
 Instrument 	25
 Procedure 	26
 Data Analysis 	28
Results and Discussion	28
 Main Dimensions of Analyses 	28
 Relationships between the Scales: Correlation Analyses 	32
 Relationships between the Scales: Regression Analyses 	43
Conclusion	50
 Research Questions and Hypotheses 	50
 Summary of the Results 	53
 Limitations of the Study and Future Research Directions 	54
References	57
Appendix	66

Introduction

When viewed in comparison with its sister field of language learning motivation, the domain of teacher motivation has seen a paucity of research in its history thus far. Whilst competing theories abound regarding the motivation to learn, such as Gardner's (1985) socioeducational model or Dörnyei's (2005) L2 motivational self-system, there is little which has been formulated regarding the motivation to teach. Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010) recently highlight this by categorically stating that "literature on teacher motivation remains scarce" (p.176). This omission might be construed as something of an oversight in some quarters given the accepted wisdom that motivated teachers often have the most significant and lasting effect on their students (Csikszentmihalyi, 1997). As Nikolov (2001) points out, "Scholarly discussions often concern students' attitudes and motivation, but they rarely touch upon the same areas of their teachers, it would be important to see the other side of the coin as well" (p.165). Given this consensus of opinion, it may be argued that it is time for a closer inspection of motivated teaching behaviour in order that we may gain a fuller understanding of the classroom learning environment.

As with language learning motivation, foreign language anxiety research has offered fertile ground for applied linguists, with notable advances made by luminaries such as Horwitz, Horwitz and Cope (1987) with their theory of foreign language classroom anxiety. As a result of this body of work, the position of language anxiety as a significant influence in language learning success has become generally acknowledged (Gardner, Tremblay & Masgoret, 1997). However, there has been a lack of research documenting the effects of foreign language anxiety of the non-native language teacher (Horwitz, 1996; Heitzmann, Tóth & Sheorey, 2007). In addition to this, arguments have been made as to the need for research into the existence of the connections between motivation and language anxiety from the perspective of the teacher (Yan & Horwitz, 2008).

The third dimension of this study, self-efficacy, has been the subject of fundamental work by Bandura (1977, 1986) both in the explication of its reality and the development of hypotheses as to its importance for the language learner. In addition to the learner, Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010) identify "the teacher's sense of efficacy" as an important facet of their "psychological needs" (p.162). Despite this, little work has focussed specifically on identifying levels of the teacher's self-efficacy and even less exists which attempts to consider these levels as part of the larger reality which is comprised of a variety of interlinking individual variables.

In an attempt to address these identified deficiencies in the current body of empirical research, this study aims to investigate the relationships which may exist between the tripartite dimensions of motivation, language anxiety and self-efficacy. The non-native English teacher is the focus of study, as represented here by a sample of Hungarian English teachers, and it is hoped that as a result of this work, a greater understanding of the reality of the non-native teacher may be gained.

In order to achieve these aims, it is first necessary to identify the major developments in the fields of language anxiety, self-efficacy and motivation. Each of these is addressed individually and the links between them highlighted. Following this, the research methodology is outlined with the aim of identifying each of the steps taken in obtaining and analysing the data utilised in this investigation. Next the results are presented and a discussion of their interpretation is provided. Finally, conclusions are drawn regarding the quality of the study itself before recommendations for future research are offered.

Literature Review

It is intended that the following section serve as a review of research in the fields of foreign language anxiety, self-efficacy and motivation which may be viewed as relevant to this study. The first section takes the theme of anxiety research, beginning with its psychological roots and continuing on to the specific area of foreign language classroom anxiety. This is followed by an overview of self-efficacy, including mention of its roots in social cognitive theory. Finally, the major historical developments in the field of language learning motivation will be outlined. This will be divided into four stages, each reflecting an important developmental era and in which the most salient areas of research are outlined. These three individual difference variables have been chosen as they have been proven to exert a high degree of influence on the experience of the language learner (Dörnyei, 2005). The aim of this study is to investigate whether they may also affect the motivated teaching behaviour of non-native language teachers and therefore, have the potential to impact on the reality of the classroom experience for both the teacher and language learner.

Foreign Language Anxiety

Anxiety can be defined as "a state of anticipatory apprehension over possible deleterious happenings" (Bandura, 1997, p.137). Richards (2009), in an attempt to sum up the psychological reality of anxiety, views it as a "general term roughly meaning worry and concern of a fairly intense kind" (Richards, 2009, p.21). However, these are definitions of general, non-situation specific anxiety and as such, were not formulated with the specialised context of the language learner in mind. For this, it is necessary to refer to the work of

Horwitz, Horwitz and Cope (1986) whose seminal research conceptualised a unique form of anxiety connected with the language learning environment: foreign language classroom anxiety (FLCA). They define FLCA as "a distinct complex of self-perceptions, beliefs, feelings, and behaviours related to classroom language learning arising from the uniqueness of the language learning process" (p.128). However, before it is possible to contextualise and appreciate the work of Horwitz et al. (1986), it is first necessary to examine the earlier developments in the field, beginning with the decade of the 1960s.

The roots of anxiety research lie in the field of psychology where early investigations were centred on the degradation in quality of life that was being experienced by its sufferers. One of the more significant early developments came from Alpert and Haber (1960) who conceptualised anxiety as including positive and negative forms: facilitating anxiety, seen to be helpful; and debilitating anxiety, which was viewed as obstructive. Further important developments arrived by the end of the decade in the recognition of additional forms named state and trait anxiety. These two constructs were next operationalized in the influential statetrait anxiety inventory (STAI) by Spielberger, Gorsuch and Lushene (1970). The STAI went through a number of developmental revisions in the coming years, resulting in Spielberger, Gorusch, Lushene, Vagg and Jacobs' (1983) publication of the current form, which has been considered to be a valid instrument ever since. At the time of its initial inception, state and trait anxiety were widely accepted as able to account for the majority of anxious behaviour which was under psychological investigation. In their original work, Spielberger et al. (1970) define state anxiety as a fluid and dynamic response to a particular environment or scenario, whilst trait anxiety is an inherent part of an individual's personality which describes their general potential to exhibit anxious behaviour. MacIntyre (1995, p.93) adds to this and comments that whereas trait anxiety is "the tendency to react in an anxious manner", state anxiety is "the reaction" itself. It is noteworthy that conceptualisations of these two dimensions have remained relatively stable since 1970 and both the STAI and its core definitions are still utilised in psychological research today.

In addition to the work of Spielberger et al. (1970) in the field of psychology, the 1970s also saw important changes in the realm of second language acquisition research where focus was shifting towards the learner. As a result of this, researchers now began to consider specific language related facets of the anxiety construct: a move which brought two approaches which proved to be divisive in the field. The first of these was termed anxiety transfer, a theory which conceptualises language related anxiety as an existing condition which is simply transferred to the L2 environment (Horwitz & Young, 1991). The second was called the unique anxiety approach, a conceptualisation which states there may be numerous forms of anxiety and that language anxiety is simply one of them (Horwitz & Young, 1991). As such it should be seen as a separate and defined construct in its own right and not be conceptualised as merely a manifestation of some other form of anxiety. MacIntyre and Gardner (1991) refer to this phenomenon as situation specific anxiety. However, whilst both the concept of anxiety transfer and the unique anxiety approach were important achievements of the 1970s, it is the unique anxiety approach which has gained greater credence and garnered more interest in the intervening years, resulting in important developments such as foreign language classroom anxiety.

Whilst the results of research following the unique anxiety approach provided a strong basis for its support during the 1980s, it is the work of Horwitz et al. (1986) which stands out as one of the defining moments in the field of language anxiety research. Through extensive research they not only provided evidence to strengthen the argument for the unique anxiety approach but also went one stage further by conceptualising the construct of foreign language

classroom anxiety. Horwitz et al.'s (1986) FLCA is comprised of three essential components: communication apprehension; fear of negative evaluation; and test anxiety. Communication anxiety in a foreign language context should be seen as distinct from general communication anxiety as unlike L1 speakers, who equally may also experience communication anxiety, language learners must also contend with additional pressures such as feelings of exposure and increased cognitive loading which are inherent in second language oral production (Foss and Reitzel, 1988). As such, the two constructs should not be seen as two representations of a singular entity. The second construct, test anxiety, refers to pressure which may inhibit performance as a result of the undue demands learners may place on themselves or "anxiety stemming from a fear of failure" (Horwitz et al., 1986, p.128). The final dimension is fear of negative evaluation and it is appropriate to reproduce Watson and Friend's (1969) prototypical definition of fear of negative evaluation is employed here, given its acceptance in the field as comprehensive. They define it as "apprehension about others' evaluations, avoidance of evaluative situations, and the expectation that others would evaluate oneself negatively" (p.449). It was believed that these three dimensions would be able to account for a much truer understanding of the anxiety experienced by the language learner. Through the creation of the Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety Scale (FLCAS), Horwitz et al. (1986) were able to operationalize each of the three facets of foreign language anxiety and as a result, provide evidence of its existence.

As a result of extensive research, MacIntyre and Gardner (1989) were able to categorically state that foreign language anxiety as a whole has been proven to be a reliable predictor of second language learning success. However, despite this support, questions were raised regarding the validity of the test anxiety construct, with arguments being made that it may simply be a manifestation of general anxiety and not a separate entity (MacIntyre &

Gardner, 1989). In spite of this, the work of Tóth (2008) explicitly refutes these allegations and offers further validation for use of the FLCAS in its original form. In addition to this, Dörnyei (2005) states that the FLCAS was fundamental in validating the model of foreign language anxiety as being distinct from the earlier concept of trait anxiety. The work of Piniel (2006) reinforces this claim and provides evidence that it is possible for foreign language anxiety to be evident even when trait anxiety levels are low. As a result, the original three dimensions of foreign language anxiety may still be seen as having scientific relevance. Moreover, it is also noteworthy that despite over twenty five years of testing in a multiplicity of second language learning contexts, the FLCAS is still considered to be a valued instrument for identifying levels of foreign language anxiety.

Having accounted for the theoretical underpinnings, it is to now valid to adopt a wider perspective and attempt to envision exactly what kinds of behaviour may be a result of heightened levels of foreign language anxiety. Price (1991) conducted research on this from the perspective of those experiencing its negative effects. She notes that the learners expressed real fears with regard to speaking and the potential that others may ridicule their efforts. Moreover, genuine concerns were evident in connection with pronunciation and the negative effect that strong accents may have on the interlocutor. Furthermore, the participants highlighted feelings of annoyance as a result of an inability to express themselves efficiently and effectively. As a result of these negative experiences, the participants found they were less able to function in the second language and became preoccupied with their intensifying dissatisfaction. It is interesting to note that each of these elements is concerned with productive skills, specifically speaking, and that test anxiety was not mentioned. The results indicate that the added pressure of oral communication increases the potential for anxiety and this is consistent with Horwitz et al. (1986) who identified the productive skill of speaking as that most likely to result in heightened levels of foreign language anxiety.

Further questions have been raised as to whether foreign language anxiety may be a root cause or a direct result of unsuccessful language learning experiences (Sparks & Ganschow, 2007, Yan & Horwitz, 2008). It has been posited that the line of causation is as yet unproven and that further research into this area needs to be carried out in order to confirm the direction of influence. One resultant theory of this line of reasoning is that foreign language anxiety may be more prevalent among lower level learners since those that achieve more advanced levels of study are likely to be individuals that do not suffer from high levels of anxiety. Tóth (2010) argues that there is not a convincing body of evidence to prove this. Her work with advanced Hungarian learners resulted in varying degrees of anxiety and suggests that the learning situation is of greater importance than level of ability in terms of anxiety inducement. Furthermore, the fact that advanced learners also have the potential to experience high levels of anxiety may call into question the strength of a link between anxiety and achievement. Further research in this area may be necessary.

Furthermore, Horwitz (1996) offers the theory that it is not only language learners who may be susceptible to foreign language anxiety and that non-native teachers also have the potential to experience its effects. The author goes further and posits that high levels of anxiety may result in language avoidance tactics in the classroom which could result in a reduction in L2 input for their learners both in terms of quality and quantity. If this is true, it could have potentially far reaching ramifications for the learners in terms of their potential for successful language learning and the model of language use which the teachers present to them. Heitzmann, Tóth and Sheorey (2007) conducted an investigation into levels of foreign language anxiety in Hungarian teachers of English in an attempt to answer this question. In

order to do this, they developed an instrument, the foreign language anxiety scale for teachers (FLAST). Unlike the FLCAS model which conceptualises foreign language anxiety in three domains, the FLAST incorporates seven: oral communication anxiety; stage fright; receiver anxiety; self-perception of proficiency; disparity between the 'true' self and a more limited self; fear of negative evaluation; and harmful beliefs. The theory behind such an expanded list of facets was that the authors were attempting to measure elements of both state and trait anxiety in their study and additionally they felt that the new context might demand alternate dimensions. Although the results of their study indicated generally low levels of anxiety among the teachers, it is worth noting that patterns of behaviour began to emerge regarding anxiety inducing elements of teaching. It seems that a large proportion of the reported anxiety could be collated into three main areas: fear of negative evaluation; oral communication anxiety; and self-perception of proficiency, which indicates that the teachers identify themselves as lower than average in terms of proficiency in the target language. The first two of these provide a match with the findings of Horwitz et al. (1986) however; it is the inclusion of the last into future studies of foreign language anxiety which may offer interesting results as it offers potential insight into how a disparity between the true self and a more, or even less, limited self may affect anxiety. Furthermore, despite focussing on both receptive and productive oral anxiety, there seems to be no clear reference to pronunciation in the FLAST. In contexts such as Hungary where the teacher may form the only potential model for acceptable pronunciation, it may be theorised that this may result in additional pressure, and therefore anxiety, as the teacher cannot fail to be aware that their pronunciation is under constant scrutiny in the classroom and a failure to provide an appropriate model may result in long lasting effects for their learners.

Despite the work of Horwitz (1996) and Heitzmann et al. (2007), research into the foreign language anxiety of non-native teachers has so far been minimal. However, this may still be seen as a viable area for further investigation since, as mentioned above, previous findings have been far from conclusive and many unanswered questions remain as to what the effects of high levels of anxiety may mean for both the teacher, and ultimately, the learner. Heitzmann et al. (2007) state that anxiety can lead to teachers employing avoidance tactics, the results of which can negatively affect both the style of teaching and the linguistic content of lessons. In addition to this, Tóth (2010) recommends further research into foreign language anxiety and other characteristics in order to garner a deeper understanding of the construct. Moreover, Dörnyei (2005) argues that foreign language anxiety "is likely to remain an indispensable background variable component of L2 studies focusing on language performance" (p.201). Additionally, Yan and Horwitz (2008) argue that research needs to be carried out on the relationship between motivation and foreign language anxiety. Finally, Pappamihiel (2002) claims the existence of strong links between anxiety and self-efficacy. The three dimensions of self-efficacy, motivation and foreign language anxiety may prove to offer a deeper understanding not only of anxiety itself but also what happens in the classroom from the perspective of the non-native English teacher and therefore, the relationships between these three will form the basis of this investigation.

Self-efficacy

Many attempts have been made to explicate exactly what self-efficacy beliefs are. However, all subsequent efforts may be viewed as characterised by their paraphrasing of Bandura's (1986) seminal definition of self-efficacy beliefs: "people's judgments of their capabilities to organize and execute courses of action required to attain designated types of performances" (p.391). Huang and Shanmoao (1996) attempt to add to Bandura's earlier work by stating them as "the beliefs about one's ability to perform a given task or behaviour successfully" (p.3), whilst Mills, Pajares and Herron (2007) offer an academic refinement by defining an individual's self-efficacy beliefs as "the judgements they hold about their capability to organise and execute the courses of action required to master academic tasks" (p.417). Each of these views fundamentally describes an individual's self-perception of their own efficacy within a specific domain.

It was in his earlier work on social cognitive theory that Bandura (1977) initially highlights the importance of self-efficacy. Bandura (1977) argues that in the absence of adequate levels of self-efficacy, individuals may elect to avoid problematic scenarios whereas those in possession of higher levels may believe in their ability to overcome such obstacles. Gahungu (2007) states that, in essence, social cognitive theory aims to explain "human cognition, action, motivation, and emotion" (p.70). In effect, the theory claims that people are capable of not only responding to their environment but also ruminating upon it and making proactive decisions and adaptations to their actions in order to mould said environment to their wishes. To be more precise, Bandura (2012) states that social cognitive theory consists of the interactions between three key dimensions: "personal determinants"; "behavioural determinants"; and "environmental determinants", in a relationship he terms "triadic reciprocal causation" (pp.11-12). Personal determinants refer to elements within the individual; behavioural determinants are the actions of the individual and the results of said actions; and finally, environmental determinants refer to any element specific to the surroundings which may affect the individual. Thus, in Bandura's (2012) theory, "human functioning" (p.11) is influenced by each of these three dimensions which additionally possess

equal power in exerting influence on each other. Self-efficacy is seen as a facet of the personal, or 'intrapersonal', dimension, through which its influence may be realised. As a result, an individual's self-efficacy beliefs can affect, and be affected by, both their behaviour and their environment.

Whilst it is true that self-efficacy is an influential predictor of successful performance in general, it is in the field of academic success that much of the work has been carried out (Bandura, 1997; Mills et al., 2007; Multon, Brown & Lent, 1991; Pajares & Schunk, 2001; Usher & Pajares, 2006; Zimmerman, 1989). Bandura (1997) categorically states that selfefficacy has a critical function in both achieving and predicting academic success. Mills et al. (2007) go further and stipulate that individuals who exhibit high levels of self-efficacy in the domain of study will:

Willingly undertake challenging tasks, expend greater effort, show increased persistence in the presence of obstacles, demonstrate lower anxiety levels, display flexibility in the use of learning strategies, demonstrate accurate self-evaluation of their academic performance and greater intrinsic interest in scholastic matters, and self-regulate better than other students (pp. 417–418).

This goes some way to explaining the potential for importance that self-efficacy may have in achieving academic success. Moving the focus from the general academic domain to the specific context of second language learning, Dörnyei (2005) identifies self-efficacy as an important individual variable in predicting language learning success. Furthermore, Raoofi, Tan and Chan (2012) state that based on their meta-analysis of recent research into self-efficacy and second language learning success, there is strong evidence to suggest that self-efficacy can be utilised to predict quality of performance. As a result of over thirty years of research, it can be seen that there is clear evidence for the relevance of self-efficacy to the

domain of second language learning and its potential to influence the individual learner's success.

However, there has been some debate regarding the degree of separation between selfefficacy, self-esteem and self-confidence. Maddux and Meier (1995) are categorical and state that self-esteem is a personality trait whilst self-efficacy is behavioural and therefore, they should not be considered as two facets of a singular element. With regard to the difference between self-confidence and self-efficacy, Bandura (1997) is unambiguous in pointing out that whereas self-efficacy refers to a belief regarding a specific domain; self-confidence pertains to a more general conviction concerning an individual's self-assessment of their potential for success or failure. In spite of this, Dörnyei (2005) argues for similarities between self-efficacy, self-esteem and self-confidence, citing empirical evidence of correlations between the three. Gahungu (2007) refutes this claim and states that an individual may exhibit low self-esteem despite possessing high levels of self-efficacy. As yet, there is no definitive answer to this question however, these conceptual differences may be as a result of previous research design as opposed to genuine ambiguity and careful operationalisation of these constructs in future studies may offer clearer answers.

Raoofi et al. (2012) claim that whilst a significant body of evidence exists with regard to the existence of links between self-efficacy and motivation to learn in general, a limited number of studies have focussed specifically on the language learning context (Mills et al. 2007). Furthermore, it should be noted that even fewer investigations have been conducted in the field of motivation to teach. Moreover, whilst empirical evidence points to a link between self-efficacy and anxiety (Erkan & Saban, 2011; Mills, Pajares & Herron, 2006), this research has focussed on the skills of reading, writing and listening, with little work on the skill of speaking. Gahungu (2007) states that, in contrast to those in possession of lower levels, individuals with high levels of self-efficacy are able to moderate their anxiety levels through considered responses to the environment. Once again, much of the previous research has been directed at the language learner as opposed to the language teacher. Given the widely accepted belief of the importance of anxiety, self-efficacy and motivation not only for language learning success, but also in performance, it could be argued that there is a case for further research into the language learning context from the perspective of the non-native teacher. As a result, this study will investigate the relationships between foreign language anxiety, motivation and self-efficacy in non-native English teachers.

Motivation

Motivation has been of primary interest to researchers for many years, not only in the fields of psychology and education, but particularly in second language acquisition studies. Dörnyei (2005) indicates that language aptitude and motivation can be seen as the two most influential individual difference variables in second language acquisition. Cheng and Dörnyei (2007) emphasise the importance of motivation in second language acquisition by stating that high levels of motivation can enable the most challenged of learners to attain some measure of success whilst more gifted students who are lacking motivation are likely to struggle. Motivation can be seen as being of fundamental importance in the quest to fully understand the intricacies of second language acquisition and this has resulted in over half a century of investigation into the field of motivation research.

Despite this extensive period of research, a clear definition of exactly what motivation is has proven to be elusive. From a psychological perspective, McDonough (1981), characterised motivation as a superordinate term which includes "a number of possibly distinct components, each of which may have different origins and different effects and require different classroom treatment" (p.143), thus underlining the problematic nature of any attempt to pin down an exact definition. Richards (2009) adopts a broader approach, terming it as "whatever drives people to behave in a certain way" (p.146). However, it is perhaps Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010), who offer the most comprehensive definition for the purposes of this study. They define motivation as "what moves a person to make certain choices, to engage in action, to expend effort and persist in action" (p.3). It is perhaps only when the domain of motivation is viewed in such explicit terms that it may be possible to understand why it has proven to be such an important area for research in the field of second language acquisition.

The history of motivation research can largely be divided into four main phases: the social-psychological period; the cognitive-situated approach; the process-oriented period; and the socio-dynamic period, each of which will be briefly outlined below. The social-psychological period, which can be seen as originating in the 1960s (Lambert, 1963), was embodied by the work of Gardner and Lambert (1972). The central theme of the socio-psychological period was that "the social and cultural environment in which learners grow up influence (*sic*) their attitudes and motivation, which in return influence (*sic*) their achievement" (Xie, 2011, p.25). In short, if the individual does not possess a positive attitude towards the second language and its community, they are more likely to struggle in their quest to successfully acquire said language. At the time, language learning motivation was seen as consisting of two forms of motivational orientation: integrative and instrumental (Ushioda & Dörnyei, 2012). Gardner (1985) defines these as the following: integrative orientation is the desire to interact with, or even assimilate into, the target language community through the use of the second language, whereas instrumental orientation is driven by the achievement of a reward or advantage as a result of successful language learning e.g. a promotion. In Gardner's

(1985) socio-educational model, the former of these two is awarded a greater degree of influence on motivation. It is widely acknowledged that these were ground-breaking insights into second language learning as previously, the study of languages had been viewed as no different from any other field of academic endeavour (Dörnyei, 2005). The result was that motivation began to be viewed as a critical determinant in language learning success and the importance of the learner's orientation to the second language culture took a more central role. However, the work of Gardner, and in particular his socio-educational model (Gardner, 1985), has not been without its critics (Coetzee-Van Rooy, 2006; Dörnyei, 1990, 2005; Oxford & Shearin, 1994; Pavlenko, 2002) and whilst its influence and importance to the field has been recognised, questions as to the continued relevance of the socio-educational model have been posed. Criticisms include accusations that the model is poorly defined and its taxonomy has been the source of confusion. Dörnyei (2005) argues that not only does the socio-educational model contain three instances of the term integrative, each at a different level, but also that integrative motivation contains something called motivation. The result of this is that it has been problematic to correlate studies by different researchers since they may conceptualise these elements differently. Furthermore, Coetzee-Van Rooy (2006) states that "the notion of integrativeness is untenable for second-language learners in world Englishes contexts" (p.447). Csizér and Dörnyei (2005) offer further insight into this and point out that whilst the integrative orientation may be of direct relevance to language learners in bilingual communities; the majority of English language learners have little or no direct contact with the target language community. As a result, it is unclear with whom they might wish to integrate. Although Gardner is still at work, attempting to refine and re-establish his work at the centre of motivation research, it was side-lined in the 1990s by the emergence of the cognitivesituated period.

The cognitive-situated period offered a conceptual broadening of motivational theory in response to the approach which had dominated the 1980s. Dörnyei (2005) states that in addition to this, there was also a feeling that previous theories such as the socio-educational model were lacking in relevance as they conceptualised motivation from a larger perspective i.e. societies, whereas what was required was a model which could reflect smaller scale realities such as the classroom situation. Mills et al. (2007) add that at this time it began to be "argued that one's perceptions of one's abilities, possibilities, and past performances were crucial aspects of motivation" (p.418), thereby reflecting the new cognitive perspective of the period.

Dörnyei (2009a) states that "the best-known concepts associated with this period were intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, attributions, self-confidence/efficacy and situation-specific motives related to the learning environment" (p.16). Self-efficacy and its links with motivation have already been discussed (see above) and will not be revisited here but further details will be provided regarding self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985) and attribution theory (Weiner, 1992).

Self-determination theory is comprised of intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation, and amotivation. Intrinsic motivation is defined as "resulting from an interest in the subject/activity itself" whilst extrinsic motivation is described as "resulting from external factors of reward or punishment" (Littlejohn, 2008, p.215). External motivation is then further broken down into four types of regulation: integrated, identified, introjected, and external. Finally, Noels (2001) defines amotivation as a feeling of helplessness and that the learner has little or no control over what happens. Noels (2001) argues that self-determination theory views each of these facets as being placed on a cline, with amotivation at one end, followed by each of the four elements of external motivation, and then intrinsic motivation being housed at the opposite end. One of the important elements of this theory is that of amotivation which appears for the first time and acknowledges the potential for a lack of motivation. It is interesting to note that intrinsic motivation and identified regulation have been seen to correlate with integrative motivation, whilst external regulation has been correlated with instrumental motivation (Noels, 2001).

Attribution theory (Weiner, 1992) is characterised by its attempt to connect "people's past experiences with their future achievement efforts by introducing *causal attributions* as the mediating link" (Dörnyei, 2005, p.79). The theory claims that whilst successful experiences are attributed by the learner to their own ability; unsuccessful experiences are attributed to temporary influences which may be neutralised; and demotivating experiences are attributed to the learning environment and not the learner (Ushioda, 2001). The degree of effort that an individual is willing to expend on a task is directly related to their perception of future success or failure based on previous experiences. Furthermore, the individual attributes causes of previous success or failure in such a way that they are able to maintain a sense of positive self-image. Despite the subsequent shifts in focus which occurred in the field of second language motivation as a whole, it is noteworthy that the influence of the above-mentioned theories from the cognitive-situated period can still be seen in empirical and theoretical research today.

The turn of the century brought further changes in the world of second language motivation research, one of which was the inception of the process-oriented approach. Dörnyei (2009a) describes this period as being "characterised by an interest in motivational change and in the relationship between motivation and identity" (p.17). Although Oxford and Shearin (1994) had earlier called for the recognition of "a prominent temporal dimension" (p.16) to motivation, it is within this current period that construct of motivation fully came to be viewed as dynamic. Dörnyei & Ottó (1998) were among the first to conceptualise this new fluid

reality with their process model of L2 motivation. This model conceptualises the motivation to complete a task as being comprised of three stages, before, during and after. These three stages are termed the pre-actional, actional, and post-actional and each can be viewed as connected with "different motives" (Dörnyei, 2005, p.86). The importance of this model was that it allowed researchers to identify different degrees of motivation at each stage of task completion and therefore it could be argued that it offered a view which was closer to reality.

The last of the four phases of motivation research is the current socio-dynamic period which Dörnyei and Ushioda (2012) state is "characterized by a concern with dynamic systems and contextual interactions" (p.396). One of the most significant breakthroughs of this period has been the L2 motivational self-system (Dörnyei, 2005). Whilst incorporating elements of possible selves (Markus & Nurius, 1986); self-discrepancy theory (Higgins, 1987); and Gardner's work (2001), Dörnyei also drew on empirical research by the likes of Ushioda (2001) and Noels (2003). The resulting theory utilises three dimensions as the basis for both conceptualising and operationalising the construct of L2 motivation: the ideal L2 Self, the ought-to L2 self, and the L2 learning experience. Dörnyei (2005) defines the ideal L2 self as "the L2 specific aspect of one's ideal self" (p.105) which embodies the type of L2 user the individual wishes to become (Csizér and Kormos, 2009). Dörnyei (2005) provides the theoretical underpinning by linking the ideal L2 self to "Noels' integrative category and the third of Ushioda's motivational facets" (p.105). Csizér and Kormos (2009) additionally state that it incorporates the dimension of integrativeness, which was fundamental to Gardner's socio-educational model and much previous motivation research. The ought-to L2 self is defined by Dörnyei (2005) as "the attributes that one believes one 'ought to' possess (i.e., various duties, obligations, or responsibilities) in order to 'avoid' possible negative outcomes" (p.105-106). In contrast with this limiting of the ought-to L2 self to solely negative

experiences, Csizér and Kormos (2009) additionally found evidence of positive links between the ought-to L2 self and parental encouragement. Dörnyei (2005) highlights the correspondence with Higgins' (1987) ought-to self and also extrinsic forms of instrumental motivation, thus offering further links to Gardner's earlier work. In addition to this, Papi (2010) argues for theoretical links between this dimension and the "extrinsic constituents in Noels (2003) and Ushioda's (2001) taxonomies" (p.469). The final dimension of the L2 motivational self-system is the L2 learning experience which Dörnyei (2009b) characterises as being concerned with "situated 'executive' motives related to the immediate learning environment and experience (e.g. the impact of the teacher, the curriculum, the peer group, the experience of success)" (p.29). Csizér and Kormos (2009) and Shahbaz and Liu (2012) found stronger evidential links between this dimension and motivated learning behaviour than either of the other two dimensions. Furthermore, Dörnyei (2009b) argues that successful language learning experiences often provide a greater degree of initial motivation than that which is inspired by internal or external self-perception. Dörnyei (2005) offers theoretical links with "Noels' intrinsic category and the first cluster formed of Ushioda's motivational facets" (p.106) and in addition to this, Papi (2010) highlights connections with Dörnyei and Ottó's (1998) actional phase. The L2 motivational self-system provides an empirically tested framework for the dynamic reality of motivation in settings where there may be little or no direct contact with the L2 community. As such it offers potential answers to some of the criticisms of Gardner's earlier work. Furthermore, it provides strong theoretical links with previous theories and models of second language motivation research and, therefore, may be viewed as an evolution as opposed to revolution which may help to answer further questions about the reality of L2 motivation.

Despite extensive research into motivated learning behaviour, there has been little or no research in the field of teacher motivation (Dörnyei & Ushioda, 2010). Menyhárt (2008) utilised self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985) in his research with university English teachers, finding that teachers tended to be intrinsically motivated whilst lecturers were more influenced by extrinsic influences (the study categorised respondents as teacher or lecturer depending on their teaching style). Furthermore, Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010) argue that teacher motivation need not require a new conceptualisation of motivation and that previous models should apply since it is simply a type of "human behaviour" (p.160) however, they do theorise that teaching may correlate strongly with the dimension of intrinsic motivation. I believe it is time to explore the motivational profile of non-native English teachers using the L2 motivational self-system as the basis for investigation. Given its ability to account for a lack of integration into a specific L2 community, it has the potential to reflect the reality of the situation in which non-native teachers often find themselves. As a result, I feel that this approach may offer the potential to shed new light on an under-researched area. In addition to this, Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010) hypothesise not only the importance of self-efficacy for teachers but also a potential link between high levels of self-efficacy and motivation. Finally, Papi (2010) points out that there has been little research carried out to establish the influence of the L2 motivational self-system on variables such as anxiety, with even less work having been done into the area of the non-native teacher. As a result, this study will adopt the L2 motivational self-system in order to investigate the relationship between motivation, selfefficacy and foreign language anxiety in non-native English teachers.

Research Methods

The aim of this study was to investigate the inter-relationships between motivation, foreign language anxiety and self-efficacy focussing on the non-native English language teacher. In order to facilitate this, a quantitative research design was decided upon and then relevant research questions and hypotheses were formulated as quantitative studies offer the capability to confirm or reject clear hypotheses. As previously stated, Dörnyei's (2005) L2 motivational self-system was chosen for its focus on the teacher *selves* and its proven ability to accurately measure levels of motivated learning behaviour in contexts with no discernible target language community. It was felt that this might offer a counterpoint to previous research, which had utilised self-determination theory, and that the resulting data might offer an increased level of detail. However, it is acknowledged that it is first necessary to confirm whether the L2 motivation self-system applies to this context and as a result, the following research questions were to be investigated:

- **Research question 1** Can the L2 motivational self-system be applied to the nonnative English language teacher in a Hungarian context?
 - **Hypothesis 1**: The items intended to measure each construct of the L2 motivational self-system will provide internally reliable scales.
 - **Hypothesis 2**: Each of the constituent facets will contribute to motivated language teaching behaviour.

The next level of enquiry was to focus on the connection between each of the three individual difference variables under investigation in this study. In order to examine each of the potential relationships, the following were formulated:

- **Research question 2** What are the relationships between motivation, foreign language anxiety and self-efficacy?
 - **Hypothesis 1**: There will be evidence of a positive correlation between motivation and self-efficacy.
 - **Hypothesis 2**: There will be a negative correlation between motivation and foreign language anxiety.
 - **Hypothesis 3**: The results will show a negative correlation between foreign language anxiety and self-efficacy.

Finally, as stated in the literature review, it was theorised that non-native teachers may experience a heightened degree of pressure, and resultant anxiety, related to their L2 pronunciation. In order to learn more, the following were devised:

- **Research question 3** Does the reality of the non-native teacher require a specific new facet of foreign language anxiety related solely to pronunciation issues?
 - **Hypothesis**: There will be evidence of a positive correlation between pronunciation anxiety and foreign language anxiety.

Participants

The investigation was conducted in the city of Budapest, in Hungary. Its status as a non-English speaking country situated in the heart of Europe and a member of the EU offers the potential that results from the Hungarian context may be of value to other member states with similar conditions. Furthermore, in the interests of greater generalizability, only teachers employed by state owned schools with pupils of primary or secondary age were considered for participation. This was decided as although Budapest has a large quantity of private language schools and freelance English teachers, the majority of Hungarians receive their English language tuition from their school as a part of the curriculum.

The majority of the one hundred teachers who participated in the study were female (78%) with 16% male and a further 6% who elected not to state their gender. This is representative of the distribution of gender diversity in many of the schools in Budapest where the majority of language teachers tend to be female. The ages of the respondents displayed a wide variety ranging from twenty to above sixty; however, the two most frequent age groups were 30-39 (33%) and 40-49 (28%). Once again, this is felt to be representative of the city and it should also be highlighted that all of the sample were native Hungarians whose mother tongue is also the official language of the country. The teachers display a large range in terms of language learning success other than with English and almost all of the participants reported the ability to speak at least one other language. German and Russian were the most popular and self-reports assessed proficiency levels at anywhere from A1 to C2 using the Common European Framework of Reference (CEFR). In terms of teaching qualifications, a master's diploma was the highest reported certification (78%) with less than 10% mentioning any other form. This is likely to be as a result of Hungary having utilised a system of combined BA and MA programme for many years, a process which has only recently changed. As is to be expected given the range in terms of age, the number of years teaching experience varied, started at one year and ended with forty two years, though the majority reporting something between ten and thirty years in total. In addition to this, 78% of the teachers currently work for either a state primary school (18%) or a state secondary school (62%). Finally, 40% of the teachers have never taught above B2 level and a further 32% have never tutored students higher than C1 on the CEFR. Furthermore, only 6% of the sample has so far gained any experience of C2 level pupils, something which is commensurate with my own experience of the level English language ability in Budapest.

Instrument

The final instrument is comprised of a total of seventy one items with sixty two five point Likert type items and nine further biographical questions (see Appendix 1). Nine scales were represented which comprise the three individual difference variables of motivation, foreign language anxiety and self-efficacy. Csizér and Kormos's (2009) adaptations to Dörnyei's (2005) L2 motivational self-system were utilised and adapted in order to focus on motivation to teach as opposed to the original's motivated learning behaviour. The resulting construct is represented by the scales of motivated language teaching behaviour (6 items) e.g. I am willing to work hard at teaching English; the ideal L2 self (total 7 items) e.g. If my dreams come true, I will be able to teach English even more effectively in the future; the ought-to L2 self (total 7 items) e.g. It is important to teach English well; and present teaching experience (6 items) e.g. I like working with my students. It should be noted here that traditionally, the ideal and ought-to selves refer only to the L2 specific aspect of the individual. Given that the focus of this study is the non-native teacher whose L2 selves and teaching selves may be inextricably intertwined as a direct consequence of their chosen career, this study will treat the two entities as one. In short, for the remainder of this investigation, the terms ideal self and ought-to self will be used to refer to both the language specific and pedagogical selves combined.

The foreign language anxiety dimension is comprised of three elements from Heitzmann et al.'s (2007) FLAST; oral communication anxiety (6 items) e.g. I feel inhibited when I speak in English, fear of negative evaluation (6 items) e.g. I am afraid to make mistakes in the classroom; and self-perception of proficiency (8 items) e.g. I think I speak English better than the average Hungarian English teacher. In addition to these, the experimental scale of pronunciation anxiety was devised (8 items) e.g. I worry that my English pronunciation is negatively influenced by my mother tongue. Finally, the scale of self-efficacy, which utilises Bandura's (2006) outlines for constructing self-efficacy scales, is comprised of 8 items e.g. I am sure that I can teach English to students of all levels of ability (from A1-C2).

It was decided that as the researcher is not able to speak Hungarian and that all of the respondents are experienced English teachers that the instrument would be completed in English. It is acknowledged that this might be viewed as introducing the potential for items to be misconstrued however, given the professional nature of the sample's English language ability, it was decided that translation of the items, which might introduce further issues, would offer no clear improvements to the study. However, during the piloting stage, the instrument was subjected to a number of think aloud processes in order to eliminate areas of potential misunderstanding or confusion (Ness, submitted for publication). After the piloting procedure was complete, factor analysis was carried out on the scales and items which did not load onto a single factor were highlighted for improvement before the instrument was deemed ready for use.

Procedure

Initially, it was decided that the instrument would be administered via the Internet with the use of the website Survey Monkey. This was in order to reduce the amount of intrusion on schools and to allow the teachers greater freedom in deciding when and how to complete the questionnaire. A contact list was drawn up with representatives from each of the schools in Budapest and then each member was emailed. The initial email process was in Hungarian in order to convey the reasons for the study in greater detail and a Hungarian speaker was retained for this part of the procedure. The website was available for a period of two months during which time, a total of sixty responses were recorded. It is inevitable that with data collection procedures that utilise the Internet in such a fashion, it may be difficult to track the respondents. In order to counteract this, the IP address of each response was recorded along with the answers so that any anomalies could be investigated.

Following the initial collection, the schools were next approached in person with paper copies of the instrument. Appointments with school administrators and heads of the English departments were requested and a Hungarian speaker explained the purpose of the study and gained permission to involve the school's teachers. As part of the process, teachers were requested not to participate if they had already completed an online version of the instrument. The questionnaires were left with each school and then collected once they had been completed with weekly visits to encourage the teachers becoming a regular occurrence over the following two months. By the end of the data collection process, a total of one hundred responses had been accrued over a period totalling four months. These represent a sample which incorporates elements of convenience and snowball sampling whilst retaining an degree of self-selection from the participants.

Data Analyses

At the end of the collection process, the data were compiled into a data set using the program SPSS for Windows version 20. The data set was subjected to data cleaning and then composite scales were created from the individual items, each representing one of the previously outlined constructs. In order to do this, relevant items or scales were reversed as necessary in order that the results could be subject to statistical analyses. First of all, the internal reliability values (Cronbach's Alpha) were calculated and any items which were seen to have a detrimental effect on validity were removed (item 23 from the ideal self, leaving a 6 item scale). Next, mean values were recorded and then the scales were subjected to bivariate correlation analyses. Finally, a regression path model was created using linear regression and the results, along with their interpretation, can be found in the following section.

Results and Discussion

The Main Dimensions of Analyses

As a first step in the analysis, the internal reliability of each scale was calculated as well as descriptive statistics (see Table 1). The results show that with the exception of one, all the Crobach's Alpha values exceeded the minimum reliability requirement for scientific rigour (α =.70), for example, the self-efficacy scale achieved α =.75. The three constructs which represent foreign language anxiety: oral communication anxiety, self-perception of proficiency and fear of negative evaluation reported values of α =.85, α =.84 and α =.86 respectively, which represent very high levels of internal consistency. In addition to this, the proposed additional

foreign language anxiety construct, pronunciation anxiety, also achieved a high level of reliability (α =.85). As such, all data related to these four scales may be considered appropriate for further analysis. The constructs which measure the L2 motivational self-system offer a greater degree of difference. Motivated language teaching behaviour (α =.71) and the ideal self (α =.70) both achieved the minimum reliability requirement, moreover, the alpha value for present teaching experience (α =.88) reflects a very high degree of internal consistency. However, the ought-to self scale was more problematic, returning a Chronbach's Alpha value of only α =.36. This is considerably below the minimum requirement for scientific reliability and as a result, any and all data related to this scale should be treated as questionable.

One possible reason for the lack of reliability of the ought-to self is that it may be difficult to identify exactly what external elements are exerting an influence on the respondents. Given that they work for a variety of different schools, it may be reasonable to assume that they do not all experience the same levels of expectation imposed on them by their employers, their pupils, the families of their students, and also their colleagues. It may also be that as teachers and users (or advanced learners) of English, they have fully, or at least partially, internalised any external influences to the extent that it is difficult to access the ought-to self in traditional ways. This might be an indication of how the reality of language users may differ from that of language learners. The teachers could potentially feel that they have transcended the boundaries of external negative influences in the traditional sense, given that in many ways the teachers now embody exactly those same external influences for their learners. Moreover, given the largely autonomous nature of teaching, they may feel little in terms of identifiable influence from exterior sources. Piniel (2009) states that whilst there is a clear precedent in terms of success in the identification of the ideal self, the ought-to self has often proved to be more problematic. Previous studies in the Hungarian context have also

found the ought-to self to be an elusive construct, e.g. Gasniuk (20012) whose study of language anxiety and motivation also recorded a reliability value of less than the required minimum for the ought-to self. Furthermore, Csizér and Kormos (2009) argue that the "the Ought-to L2 self is not an important component of the model of language learning motivation" (p.107) with reference to their sample, and that of the ideal and ought-to selves, much greater value should be placed on the ideal self dimension of the L2 motivational-self system. In light of the comments outlined above and as a direct consequence of the scale's lack of internal consistency, data for the ought-to self will not be analysed further in this study.

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics	of the	Constructs	(N=100))
-------------------------------	--------	------------	---------	---

Constructs	a	Μ	SD	No. of items
Motivated language teaching behaviour	.71	4.34	.51	6
Ideal self	.70	4.04	.60	6
Ought-to self	.36	3.75	.41	7
Present teaching experience	.88	4.26	.66	6
Self-efficacy	.75	3.70	.58	8
Oral communication anxiety	.85	1.72	.63	6
Self-perception of proficiency	.84	4.06	.58	8
Fear of negative evaluation	.86	1.95	.72	6
Pronunciation anxiety	.85	2.33	.71	8

As part of the descriptive statistics, mean values for each of the individual constructs were ascertained. The mean values of motivated language teaching behaviour, ideal self and present teaching experience were uniformly high with all showing a value above four (see Table 1). Given that the instrument utilised five point Likert scale items, this indicates that the respondents were reporting extremely high levels of motivation. If the data is seen to be generalisable, it seems that English language teachers in Budapest may be characterised as very highly motivated in their chosen profession. Whilst the ought-to self has been linked with extrinsic forms of motivation (Papi, 2010), present teaching experience has been theoretically linked to a more intrinsic orientation (Dörnyei, 2005). It could be suggested that as present teaching experience has the highest mean value (M=4.26), this may reflect a bias towards intrinsic orientation for teachers as hypothesised by Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010). Csikszentmihalyi (1997) defines the intrinsic rewards of teaching as relating to both the challenges and rewards of working with the student body, and the opportunity to be involved in professional development. The former of these two elements, that which reflects the satisfaction drawn from helping their learners to improve, may be seen as relating directly to present teaching experience and as such, these data may offer further validation for Dörnyei & Ushioda's (2010) premise. Self-efficacy also reports a high mean value (M=3.70); though slightly lower than those of the motivation scales. This is also consistent with Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010) who hypothesised that English teachers would be likely to report high levels of both motivation and self-efficacy.

The mean values of the foreign language anxiety scales also offer a clear indication of the experiences of the teachers. Table 1 shows that oral communication anxiety and fear of negative evaluation are characterised by their low mean values (M=1.72 and M=1.95, respectively) whilst self-perception of proficiency is high (M=4.06). This indicates that the teachers were not experiencing high levels of anxiety which is a match with the findings of Heitzmann et al. (2007), though in reality the data reflect something much stronger than this as the teachers reported very low levels of foreign language classroom anxiety. This is represented by the respondents reporting not only low levels of oral communication anxiety and fear of negative evaluation but they also seem to feel strongly that they have attained a high level of English language proficiency. Given that they are English language teaching
professionals, it is to be expected that they are, in fact, advanced users of the language and so this self-perception may simply be an accurate view of reality. However, it should be noted that the majority of teachers (77.4%) reported that the highest levels that they have taught are either B2 (43%) or C1 (34.4%), with only a small percentage of the sample (6.5%) having gained any experience with C2 level students. As a result, it may be that the teachers are simply operating within their comfort zones in the classroom and not being presented with the potentially anxiety inducing challenges that might be expected from more proficient learners. It is also noteworthy that experience does not seem to be of relevance in regard to this as the sample is comprised of teachers with anything ranging from one to forty-two years of experience in English language tuition. As a result, it is unlikely that something as simple as the teachers' over-familiarity with the curriculum materials due to extensive experience is responsible for their low levels of anxiety and contributing factors must be sought elsewhere.

The Relationships among the Scales: Correlation Analyses

The L2 motivational self-system.

Analysis of the motivational variables offers some evidence for the relevance of Dörnyei's (2005) L2 motivational self-system to the domain of the respondents (see Table 2). Motivated language teaching behaviour here represents the degree of motivated behaviour exhibited by the teachers in their professional capacity and, for the L2 motivational self-system to be validated, each of its three facets should show evidence of positive correlations with motivated language teaching behaviour (in addition to being statistically significant). The ideal self shows a moderate positive correlation (r=.488, p<.05) which implies that higher reported values for the ideal self are associated with an increase in motivated language

teaching behaviour. Present teaching experience exhibits a high correlation (r=.729, p<.05) with motivated language teaching behaviour and this represents a much higher degree of interconnection than that exhibited by the ideal self. This is in agreement with the findings of Doyle and Kim (1999) who found that assisting in the development of students was rated as the strongest motivational force by their sample of teachers. Similarly, the respondents here provided evidence of a stronger link between motivated teaching behaviour and the rewards that the teachers obtain through working with their classes than with their desire to improve themselves professionally in order to attain their idealised future selves. Although these differences between levels of correlation offer much for further discussion (see below), it should be highlighted that the data offer a clear indication of inter-connections between the dimensions of the L2 motivational self-system and motivated language teaching behaviour. However, this does not consider any potential associations with the ought-to self which was omitted from analysis due to reliability issues with the data (see above).

Table 2

Correlation Analysis of L2 Motivational Self-System (N=100)

		Ideal self	Present teaching experience
Motivated language teaching	Pearson Correlation	.488**	.729**
behaviour	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.001

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

These data potentially provide further validation for Dörnyei's (2005) L2 motivationalself system and offer a widening of the conceptual field in terms of its relevance, given that previous work has almost exclusively been on the domain of the language learner. Moreover, the results of this study offer a partial match with the work of Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010) and Menyhárt (2008), who argue for a strong integrative element to teachers' motivation. The ideal self is taken to incorporate the integrative element of motivation here as is consistent with the work of Csizér and Kormos (2009) and Dörnyei (2005). This integrative dimension may be intuitively logical if we are to assume that the target community for teachers is that of other non-native English teachers in their school, city or country. Furthermore, since the teachers have attained such a high level of proficiency in the language that they are able to teach it, the facet of their ideal self which is related to the language is likely to be highly developed. However, if the aforementioned authors are correct, we might be expected to see a higher degree of positive correlation as opposed to the moderate level exhibited in Table 2. In reality, present teaching experience offers a much stronger positive correlation with motivated language teaching behaviour, which indicates that the teachers are highly affected by their experiences in the classroom. Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010) predict that intrinsic motivation, which has been linked to present learning experience (the learner's equivalent of present teaching experience), is the "main constituent" in teaching motivation (p.157), and if these theoretical links between present teaching experience and intrinsic motivation are to be accepted, then this study may be seen as offering validation for their hypothesis. This may be intuitive as teaching is a career which requires a large degree of autonomy and explicit rewards or punishments based on a teacher's performance are often non-existent. Teachers are generally presented with a syllabus and then allowed a reasonable degree of freedom in how they elect to cover that material. Official feedback on their degree of success in this venture arises solely from the results of the institution's formal assessment programme and regular classroom observation and feedback tends not to be a facet of everyday life for the majority of teachers in Budapest so external regulation of their performance may be seen as infrequent and

indirect. As a result, teachers must become adept at regulating their own behaviour and sourcing their own feedback from their students using more informal methods. Moreover, teachers often form strong bonds with their students at the age levels prominent in this study (primary and secondary school) and this can have a positive effect on the classroom experience for both teacher and learner. In addition, this may result in the teachers feeling a greater degree of personal investment in their learners' successes and failures which might help to explain the strength of influence that present teaching experience is exerting on motivated teaching behaviour. Finally, the data agree with Dörnyei's (2009b) assertion that present experiences offer a greater degree of motivation than the ideal or ought-to selves. However, as Dörnyei's hypothesis was developed with regard to the language learner, not the teacher, and previous research has been conducted using alternate motivational theories, these data may offer something new in terms of understanding motivated language teaching behaviour.

Self-efficacy and the L2 motivational self-system.

Bivariate correlational analysis was carried out in order to ascertain the existence, and strength of association between self-efficacy and the L2 motivational self-system (see Table 3). The data show that motivated language teaching behaviour, the ideal self and present teaching experience each exhibit a positive correlation with self-efficacy. This offers a match with previous work (Dörnyei, 2005; Raoofi, 2012) which hypothesised the existence of such connections. Motivated teaching behaviour (r=.508, p<.01) and present teaching experience (r=.525, p<.01) show a higher level of positive correlation with self-efficacy whereas the ideal self displays a slightly lower, yet still moderate association (r=.382, p<.01). This is potentially

validates the hypothesis of Dörnyei and Ushioda (2010), who theorised high levels of selfefficacy in teachers and also links between self-efficacy and motivation. Furthermore, this disagrees with the findings of Pajares (1996) who claims that self-efficacy is a sub-component of motivation. If that were the case, higher levels of correlation would be expected and the data do not reflect this view. These findings therefore may be seen as offering something of scientific value since up until now, only theoretical links between these constructs had been envisioned. Furthermore, there has been a limited amount of research carried out into the domain of the language teacher as opposed to the learner and to a degree, all findings which may help to validate or invalidate similarities with accepted notions regarding the learner, might be deemed worthy of some merit.

Table 3

Correlation Analysis of S	Self-efficacy and the L	2 Motivational S	Self-System	(N=100)

		Motivated language teaching behaviour	Ideal self	Present teaching experience
Self-efficacy	Pearson Correlation	.508**	.382**	.525**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.001	.001

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

One possible reason for the lower level of correlation between the ideal self and selfefficacy is the conceptual differences in their orientation. The ideal self concerns itself with the type of person the individual wishes to become whereas, self-efficacy, reflects what the individual believes they are currently capable of in a specific domain. Viewed in these terms, self-efficacy may be conceived as a belief in the now whilst the ideal self is a desirable future. It is therefore reasonable to assume that there would not be the same degree of correlation between these differing outlooks. This may also help to explain the higher degree of correlation between present teaching experience and self-efficacy as it becomes logical to theorise links between the two constructs. The more positive experiences an individual has, the greater belief they may develop in their ability in that domain and therefore, they become willing to expend greater effort (Mills et al., 2007). These efforts have the potential to increase chances of success which may then feed back into the individual's motivational stance as a result of their positive experiences. Furthermore, if attribution theory (Weiner, 1992) is also factored into the equation, the positive experience may then feed into higher levels of self-efficacy relating to the specified domain. The moderate correlation with motivated language teaching behaviour is perhaps not so easily explained in this conceptual manner and it may be necessary to visualise a connection between what the individual believes they are capable of and the desire to fulfil said capability. Teachers may be motivated by the desire to help their students as they see English as an important language for their learners' futures.

Foreign language anxiety and the L2 motivational self-system.

The scales which comprise foreign language anxiety and the L2 motivational selfsystem were next to be subjected to bivariate correlation analysis (see Table 4). The resulting data show that oral communication anxiety has a moderate to high negative correlation with motivated language teaching behaviour (r= -.544, p<.01); the ideal self (r= -.460, p<.01); and present teaching experience (r= -.626, p<.01). In addition to this, fear of negative evaluation exhibits similarly high levels of negative association with the facets of motivation: motivated language teaching behaviour (r= -.468, p<.01); the ideal self (r= -.345, p<.01); and present teaching experience (r= -.400, p<.01). One reason for the strength of association between oral communication anxiety, fear of negative evaluation, and present teaching behaviour may be that these facets of foreign language anxiety negatively impact on the teacher's desire to expose themselves to further anxiety inducing situations. The classroom could form one such example given that it would be practically impossible for a teacher to avoid both speaking and listening for the duration of a lesson. In addition to this, the teachers are not simply dealing with individuals, but large groups of learners, which may increase the level of anxiety further. It is also possible to conceive that oral communication anxiety and fear of negative evaluation can impinge on an individual's positive affective responses to their chosen career and these reasons may account for the higher degree of correlation between these two facets and present teaching experience.

The ideal self, which is marginally lower in its correlation, may reflect the reality that although current anxious behaviour may have some effect on one's ideal self, it might also be rationalised after the fact in direct contrast to the more immediate qualities of the other two variables. As with the motivational experience of the learner who blames a negative experience on determinants which can be improved (Weiner, 1992), the teacher may also experience this element of attribution theory. Furthermore, this feeling of wanting to improve said determinants may be increased by the nature of their possessing real control in the classroom and therefore, being in a position to implement changes where they are seen to be appropriate. These data potentially offer validation to the premise that an anxiety inducing environment and depressed levels of teaching motivation may be linked. However, if this hypothesis is accepted, it is important not to simply assume that the reverse would automatically be true as low levels of anxiety are not considered enough on their own to predict that high levels of motivation will be in existence. This relationship appears to be more complex and further investigation is necessary.

Table 4

		Motivated language teaching behaviour	Ideal self	Present teaching experience
Oral communication	Pearson Correlation	544**	460**	626**
anxiety	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.001	.001
Self-perception of	Pearson Correlation	.541**	.493**	.483**
proficiency	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.001	.001
Fear of negative	Pearson Correlation	468**	345**	400**
evaluation	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.001	.001

Correlation Analysis of Foreign Language Anxiety and Motivation (N=100)

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

In direct contrast to oral communication anxiety and fear of negative evaluation, the third element of foreign language classroom anxiety, self-perception of proficiency, exhibits moderate positive correlations with motivated language teaching behaviour (r=.541, p<.01); the ideal self (r=.493, p<.01); and present teaching experience (r=.483, p<.01). One explanation for this is that the self-perception of proficiency scale may in fact represent something similar to a form of self-efficacy and this would explain the similarity in results. Self-efficacy refers to the beliefs of the individual concerning their ability in a specific domain, and self-perception of proficiency expresses one's beliefs regarding general level of ability in the language. It could be argued that as such, self-perception of proficiency is a broader category which encompasses a multitude of skills, sub-skills, and areas of systematic knowledge whereas self-efficacy would be expected to relate one each one of those facets individually. This may be characterised as a bigger picture versus finer detail dichotomy, for want of a clearer analogy, and therefore, it is to be expected that there should be some degree of correlation between the two constructs. In addition to this, when answering the items related

to each of these two constructs, the teachers may have viewed them as being primarily influenced by their English language ability rather than their teaching ability, or vice versa, and this could account for some of the similarity in results. Furthermore, while it may be true that it is possible to learn about a subject in order to teach it whilst still not being proficient yourself, e.g. sports, it would seem that this distinction may be less acceptable in the world of language teaching. This might explain why perceptions of language proficiency and language teaching ability are correlated in this way.

However, whilst these are potential problems with the nature of self-efficacy and selfperception of proficiency, it should be reiterated that the scales do each display a high degree of internal consistency (α =.75 and α =.84 respectively) which indicates that they each reflect separate unitary constructs. In addition to this, the degree of positive correlation between the two scales is still only moderate to high (r=.695, p<.01). If the two scales were in fact identifying a singular reality, a higher degree of correlation might be expected to be in evidence. As a result, there is enough evidence available to claim that they are separate, though linked, entities. As can be seen from the possible explanations outlined above, which offer some insight into the kinds of problems encountered when attempting to fully separate the constructs of self-efficacy and self-perception of proficiency for identification and investigation. This relationship appears to be complex and may merit further research in order to ascertain further evidence both in the domain of the teacher and the learner.

Self-efficacy and foreign language anxiety.

Further evidence regarding the inter-relationships between not only self-efficacy and self-perception of proficiency, but also foreign language classroom anxiety as a whole was

sought via bivariate correlation analysis of the constituent scales (see Table 6). The results show there is a moderate to high degree of positive correlation between self-efficacy and selfperception of proficiency (r=.695, p<.01), as stated above; a moderate to high degree of negative correlation between oral communication anxiety (r= -.622, p<.01) and self-efficacy; and a moderate to high negative correlation between self-efficacy and fear of negative evaluation (r= -.675, p<.01). These findings offer concur with existing studies (Erkan & Saban, 2011; Mills, Pajares & Herron, 2006) which indicate links between self-efficacy and foreign language anxiety. However, the previous studies have focussed on the skills of reading, writing and listening. Given that little work has been done on the skill of speaking, they cannot be said to fully reflect the domain of oral communication anxiety. Furthermore, they have not concerned themselves with the non-native language teacher, instead focussing primarily on the experiences of the language learner. Unlike the teacher, learners may be viewed as being under potentially less pressure as they are not expected to know all of the answers in the classroom or to provide a model of acceptable pronunciation, and additionally, they may be able to limit their exposure to a greater degree than the teacher through a lack of engagement. Gahungu (2007) argues that learners with high levels of self-efficacy may be able to moderate their levels of language anxiety and whilst these data do not reject this premise, there is insufficient evidence from this study to confirm the results of that study since the respondents here reported a mean value lower than four with regard to the self-efficacy scale. As a result, it is not possible to draw any firm conclusions as to whether high levels of selfefficacy may enable the individual to reduce their anxiety. However, if the premise were to be accepted, it may also be possible that the process of moderating anxiety could result in the depression of self-efficacy levels as a by-product, something which might explain the results seen here.

Table 6

		Oral communication anxiety	Self-perception of proficiency	Fear of negative evaluation
Self-	Pearson Correlation	622**	.695**	675**
efficacy	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.001	.001

Correlation Analysis of Self-efficacy and Foreign Language Anxiety (N=100)

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Pronunciation anxiety and foreign language anxiety.

As part of this study, it has been theorised that an additional dimension of pronunciation anxiety might be required in order to reflect the additional pressures and responsibilities experienced by the non-native teacher in the English language classroom. In order to provide further understanding of this area, bivariate correlation analysis was carried out on the scales of oral communication anxiety, self-perception of proficiency, fear of negative evaluation, and pronunciation anxiety (see Table 7). The data show that both oral communication anxiety (r=.604, p<.01) and fear of negative evaluation (r=.584, p<.01) experience a moderate positive correlation with pronunciation anxiety. Furthermore, self-perception of proficiency (r=.556, p<.01) reflects a moderate negative correlation with the pronunciation anxiety scale. On the basis of these data, it may be possible to consider that there is some validity in the proposed extension of the foreign language anxiety construct. Questions may be asked as to whether pronunciation anxiety is not simply tapping into the same construct as oral communication anxiety however, the correlations between the two scales are only moderate and a figure much higher would be expected if this were the case.

However, it should be reiterated that the teachers who comprised the sample for this study did not report experiencing high levels of anxiety, in fact, the opposite was true.

Table 7

Correlation analysis of pronunciation anxiety and foreign language anxiety (N=100)

		Oral communication anxiety	Self-perception of proficiency	Fear of negative evaluation
Pronunciation	Pearson Correlation	.604**	556**	.584**
Anxiety	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.001	.001

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

The Relationships among the Scales: Regression Analyses

Whilst bivariate correlation analysis provides statistical evidence of connections between scales and offers numerical data regarding the strength of any association, it is important to note that it offers indications of the associations between the constructs. It is not possible from the data to infer information concerning the nature of these relationships with regard to the direction of influence or cause and effect. In contrast, regression analysis provides linear evidence regarding the effect of one, or more, constructs on a specified scale. It is then possible to ascertain not only the direction of influence but also the full extent of its ability to affect the dependent construct. In other words, the results can show which variables contribute to the existence of the highlighted scale and also how much of its existence is as a result of their influence. In order to glean further useful data with regard to the relationships between the scales of this study and to gain a deeper understanding of the teachers' motivation, multiple regression analysis was carried out using motivated language teaching behaviour as the dependent variable and each of the other scales as independent variables (see Table 9).

Table 9

Linear regression analysis with motivated language teaching behaviour as a dependent scale (N=100)

		el			
Variable	В	SE B	β		
Present teaching experience	.56	.05	.73*		
Self-perception of proficiency	.22	.07	.25*		
R^2		.58			
* n < 01					

**p*<.01

The results highlight that present teaching experience may account for as much as 52.6% of motivated language teaching behaviour. This may be considered as a partial match with the hypothesis of Dörnyei & Ushioda (2010) who suggested that the intrinsic dimension of motivation would constitute the largest influence on the motivation to teach. In addition to this, the work of Menyhárt (2008) identified links between intrinsic motivation and teaching motivation and furthermore, Kőhalmi (2009) found evidence that intrinsic motivation exerts the strongest influence on motivated language teaching behaviour. It is interesting to note the complete absence of other motivational facets, such as the ideal self, from the results which indicates that the findings of this study do not concur with the work of Csizér and Kormos (2009) and Gasniuk (2012), who found that the ideal self had the greatest influence on motivated learning behaviour. As a result, it can be seen that the motivational profile the language teacher differs from that of the language learner and therefore, previous findings

from learner-based research may not be applicable to the teacher. This not only offers evidence that the teachers may be considered as language users, as opposed to learners, but also offers justification for further research into this area.

In addition to present teaching experience, self-perception of proficiency is seen to account for as much as a further 4.5% of motivated language teaching behaviour. It is perhaps surprising that it is this and not self-efficacy which appears to have a direct effect on the teachers' motivation given the previously mentioned hypotheses of the links between self-efficacy and motivation. However, it would seem that the teachers are more motivated by a general belief in their ability to use the language than by a specific domain of belief in their competence to teach it. As a result, it appears that the respondents are driven primarily by the rewards of helping their students to improve their English language skills and to a lesser extent, the belief in their own linguistic ability. This is clearly a complex area which is made even denser by the use of differing motivational theories in previous research. Whilst there are theoretical links between concepts such as intrinsic motivation and present teaching behaviour, these should in no way be seen as representing the same concepts as only partial similarities exist. As a result, it is problematic to draw direct links between previous studies using alternate motivational theories and this investigation.

Once the primary influences had been identified, further linear regression analysis was carried out in order to identify secondary level influences. Present teaching experience was utilised as the dependent variable as it had been shown to be responsible for the largest degree of variance in motivated language teaching behaviour, and all of the remaining scales (with the exception of motivated teaching behaviour) were then selected as independent variables (see Table 10). The results show that the greatest determinant in levels of present teaching experience is oral communication anxiety, which may account for up to 39.4% of the variance.

This may offer valuable insight into the non-native teacher as it shows that more than one third of their experience is dictated by their anxiety regarding speaking or listening. It is noteworthy that the respondents to this study reported experiencing low levels of foreign language anxiety which reduces any potentially debilitating effects of the influence now attributed to oral communication anxiety. As a result, further research may be necessary to investigate the resulting effect on motivation which may be exerted by an increase in oral communication anxiety.

The second scale which has the capacity to exert its influence on present teaching experience is the ideal self, which may account for as much as 3.9% of the variance. Contrary to the findings of Csizér and Kormos (2009) and Gasniuk (2012) who argue for the pivotal role of the ideal self in motivated learning behaviour, it seems that its role is diminished in the non-native teacher. It may be that the teachers are still exhibiting signs of their inner desire to improve and become better teachers and that this is having an effect on their present experiences. It is perhaps interesting to see that this role is only at a secondary level in terms of overall motivated language teaching behaviour and that it is subservient to present teaching experience.

Table 10

Linear regression analysis of present teaching experience as a dependent scale (N=100)

	Final Model				
Variable	В	SE B	β		
Oral communication anxiety	66	.08	63*		
Ideal self	.24	.10	.22*		
R^2		.43			

46

Finally, in order to complete the regression path model, self-perception of proficiency was subjected to regression analysis. This was because, along with present teaching experience, it had been shown to be a direct influence on levels of motivated language teaching behaviour. As a result, self-perception of proficiency was selected as the dependent variable and the remaining scales inserted as independent variables (now with the exception of both motivated language teaching behaviour and present teaching experience). The results show that self-perception of proficiency is influenced by four variables (see Table 11). The largest influence is exerted by fear of negative evaluation which is responsible for up to 59.2% of the variability in self-perception of proficiency. This is followed by oral communication anxiety which may result in as much as 9.6% of the difference. These data serve as justification of the work of Horwitz et al. (1986) and their model of foreign language classroom anxiety as it can be seen that two of its three composite elements are in a direct causal relationship. Furthermore, the results help to extend the relevance of this model to the domain of the non-native English language teacher. It seems that the teachers' beliefs in their abilities as educators and users of English are strongly affected by their fear of negative evaluation and that this belief, in turn, can influence their motivated language teaching behaviour. In addition to this, self-efficacy is responsible for as much as 2.35% of the difference in self-perception of proficiency and this offers further weight to the argument for further investigation to be conducted into these inter-related constructs. As previously stated, it may seem intuitive that the more domain specific self-efficacy might feed into the more general self-perception of proficiency but these results offer evidence for this hypothesis. It is further noteworthy that evidence that self-efficacy seems to be feeding into the respondents' experiences of anxiety is consistent with previous studies (Erkan & Saban, 2011; Mills, Pajares & Herron, 2006; Pappamihiel, 2002). However, the results of those studies argued for

the existence of strong links between self-efficacy and foreign language anxiety as a whole. It can be seen here that the degree of influence is relatively small and it could not be claimed that it is a dominant element. Finally, the ideal self shows that it is accountable for up to 1.8% of the variance in self-perception of proficiency. Given that the ideal self represents the language user that the individual wishes to become and self-perception of proficiency represents the individual's current assessment of their ability in the L2, this finding partially confirms the work of Higgins (1987). In his self-discrepancy theory, Higgins (1987) states that it is the distance between one's own perception of their ability and their ideal self which is the root of anxious behaviour and this influence can be seen here in the results.

Table 11

Linear regression analysis of self-perception of proficiency as a dependent scale (N=100)

	Final Model			
Variable	В	SE B	β	
Fear of negative evaluation	62	.05	77*	
Oral communication anxiety	40	.07	43*	
Self-efficacy	.22	.08	.22*	
Ideal self	.15	.06	.15*	
R^2		.73		
* <i>p</i> <.01				

The final path model shows that the respondents of this investigation are not only reporting that over 50% of their motivated language teaching behaviour is as a direct result of their present teaching experience but also that this experience is fundamentally influenced by the three constituent elements of foreign language anxiety as represented here by oral communication anxiety, fear of negative evaluation, and self-perception of proficiency (see

Figure 1). The data provide further evidence of the links between these three anxiety constructs and offer a view of the chain of causation which affects the motivated language teaching behaviour of the non-native English teacher. As a result, the low levels of anxiety expressed by the sample are not only linked to their high levels of motivation, they are partially responsible for them. This disagrees with previous conceptualisations (Gardner, 2006; Papi, 2010) which have hypothesised that the reverse is true and that motivation influences levels of foreign language anxiety. As a result, it may be necessary to reconceptualise the inter-relationships between these individual difference variables for the domain of non-native English language tuition. One possible result of this is that reducing levels of foreign language anxiety may be more fundamental to ensuring motivated language teaching behaviour than previously realised.

Finally, the ideal self and oral communication anxiety appear twice as influential variables, directly affecting both present teaching experience and self-perception of proficiency. This may be seen to underline the pervasive nature of the ideal self and whilst its importance is not felt directly on motivated language teaching behaviour, it still has a role to play in determining the levels of motivation. What seems to be clear is that the reality of the motivational experience for the non-native language teacher is different from that of the language learner and as such, the findings of this study offer additional insight into this complex situation which, it is hoped, may be of genuine value to the field.



Figure 1. The final path model based on the results of regression analyses

Conclusion

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research question one.

Research question one asked whether Dörnyei's (2005) L2 motivational self-system applies to non-native English language teachers, with the hypotheses being that (a) the items of the instrument would create internally reliable scales; and (b) that each of the individual facets would be seen to contribute to motivated language teaching behaviour. The scales for the ideal self, present teaching experience and motivated language teaching behaviour were all above the minimum requirements for internal consistency, however, the scale for the ought-to self was not and as such could not be included in the remaining data analyses. As a result, the first hypothesis can only be partially confirmed.

With regard to the second hypothesis, the moderate to high positive correlations shown by motivated language teaching behaviour, present teaching experience, and the ideal self do indicate that these individual constructs are associated in some way. Despite this, linear regression modelling shows that whilst present teaching experience can be seen to be a primary influence on motivated language teaching behaviour, the ideal self is only indirectly responsible for any changes in the motivation to teach. Consequently, the second hypothesis cannot be confirmed for the teachers in this sample and it may be thus inferred that on the basis of this study, the L2 motivational self-system does not apply to non-native language teachers.

Research question two.

Research question two aimed to identify the relationships between motivation, selfefficacy and foreign language anxiety. The first hypothesis was that there would be evidence of a positive correlation between self-efficacy and motivation. The results of bivariate correlation analysis confirm the existence of these connections and therefore, the hypothesis. However, it should be noted that linear regression analysis rejects the notion that self-efficacy exerts a direct influence on motivated language teaching behaviour and its effects are seen indirectly as a secondary level influence. Hypothesis two stated that a negative correlation exists between motivation and foreign language anxiety. This can be confirmed and therefore concurs with the findings of Piniel (2009) who argues for an inverse relationship between foreign language anxiety and the L2 motivational self-system in secondary school students. The findings of this study provide further evidence of this negative correlational relationship and also provide an extension to incorporate the non-native English language teacher as well as their students. In addition to this, linear regression modelling shows that contrary to the work of Gardner (2006) whose socio-educational model argues for the existence of motivation as an influence on levels of language anxiety, the reality for the non-native language teacher is the opposite, with the three facets of foreign language anxiety directly, and indirectly, contributing to motivated language teaching behaviour.

The third hypothesis stipulated that a negative correlation would be found to exist between self-efficacy and foreign language anxiety. The results offer clear evidence and this can be confirmed. Furthermore, in the final path model, its influence is only seen as contributing to levels of self-perception of proficiency. This may be seen as partially confirming the work of Gahungu (2007) who argues that self-efficacy may have a moderating effect on anxiety.

Research question three.

Research question three asked whether the foreign language anxiety construct in its current form is able to fully reflect the reality of the non-native language teacher. It was theorised that an additional dimension of pronunciation anxiety might be required as the role of the teacher in the classroom is unlike that of the learner and brings additional pressures and responsibilities. However, despite evidence of positive correlation between the constructs, linear regression provides no sign of pronunciation anxiety exerting a direct influence on any of the facets of foreign language anxiety at the levels tested. As such, the hypothesis can be rejected on the basis of insufficient evidence to prove otherwise and the status quo retained.

Summary of the Results

This study aimed to investigate the relationships between motivation, self-efficacy and foreign language anxiety, with a focus on non-native English language teachers in Hungary. The results have shown that the L2 motivational self-system cannot be validated as applying to the participants of this investigation. A lack of internal consistency resulted in the omission of the ought-to self from consideration and the ideal self was seen to be of only secondary influence on motivated teaching behaviour. However, present teaching experience has been seen to be a highly influential variable which accounts for a considerable percentage of the teachers' reported high levels of motivation to their chosen career.

It was also seen that the teachers' foreign language anxiety levels, although notably low in this study, are of great importance due to their highly influential nature on the respondents' motivated language teaching behaviour. Given that oral communication anxiety is able to exert such an effect on present teaching experience, attempts to reduce this may be more salient than has previously been realised. Furthermore, the study has shown that foreign language anxiety has an effect on motivation and not the reverse relationship which has previously been claimed by Gardner (2006). As a result, pre- and in-service training programs may need to be re-examined in order to ascertain whether they might be able to offer greater aid to teachers in targeting and mitigating anxiety inducing scenarios. Finally, it was noted that whilst self-efficacy offers evidence of a positive correlation with motivated language teaching behaviour, it is not in a direct relationship, as hypothesised by Raoofi et al. (2012), and its influence is only seen as a result of its effect on self-perception of proficiency. It may be further noteworthy that these results offer evidence of a different reality for these teachers than that which has previously been recorded for language learners and as such may be seen as grounds for further research into the domain of the non-native language teacher.

Limitations of the Study and Future Research Directions

As with all research studies, difficult decisions had to be made in terms of scope and depth at each stage of the process. Although attempts were made to procure a valid and unified sample which would be representative of the non-native teachers currently employed in the schools of Budapest, the convenience sampling and self-selection elements of the data collection procedure may raise questions as to whether the attempts were successful. Furthermore, the limited size of the sample, only one hundred teachers, may also be seen to be too few to be truly representative of the capital city of Hungary. In addition to this, factor analysis of the scales used in the instrument may have been able to shed further light on the results and give further credence to their interpretation. Given the internal consistency values and the limitations that come with page limits for MA theses, a choice had to be made regarding which statistical analyses to pursue. Finally, the lack of scientific rigour of the ought-to self construct is regrettable, though it might not be considered a critical weakness in terms of the results offered by the other facets of the L2 motivational self-system. Irrespective of this, it is recommended that further work is needed on the items which constitute the ought-

to self scale in order to improve its internal consistency and address its lack of scientific integrity.

Further research into this area could be broadened to include each of the remaining constructs of the foreign language anxiety scale for teachers (FLAST) in order to provide further depth of knowledge regarding language anxiety in the classroom and to include a contrastive study with teachers from other linguistic and cultural backgrounds. In addition to this, future studies could incorporate task or skills specific measures of self-efficacy in order to offer a more detailed view of the teacher's self-beliefs. Studies which investigate the links between foreign language classroom anxiety and motivated language teaching behaviour utilising alternate motivational theories, such as self-determination theory, might also provide more information regarding the interplay between these two individual variables. In addition to this, research could be conducted in order to investigate the reality of the teachers' interlinked professional and L2 selves (as highlighted in the research methods). Furthermore, this study has highlighted the difficulties in isolating self-efficacy and self-perception of proficiency and further work needs to be done in order to explore this complex issue. As previously stated in the literature review, it has thus far, been assumed that self-efficacy is inherently linked to the motivational construct in some manner yet the results of this study show its effects being felt directly on language anxiety, in particular on self-perception of proficiency, and only indirectly on motivation. Other approaches to future studies might include a longitudinal study which aims to ascertain the changes in motivated language teaching behaviour across a school term, or academic year, as this might prove to be of greater benefit than studies which are only able to provide a glimpse of a temporary reality. Given the wide variety of variables which may interact on a teacher throughout longer periods of time, it would be of value to gain a deeper understanding of how these affect their motivated language

teaching behaviour. Finally, a qualitative investigation aiming to explore the experiences of the non-native teacher may shed further light on their motivational profiles and offer new directions for future studies. Whilst it may be true that there has, as yet, only been a limited amount of research which aims to examine this area, there is no shortage of potential avenues for future research and it is hoped that the results of any such studies may further help to improve the conditions of the working teacher.

References

- Alpert, R., & Haber, R. N. (1960). Anxiety in academic achievement situations. *The Journal* of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 61, 207–215.
- Bailey, P., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Daley, C. E. (2000). Correlates of anxiety at three stages of the foreign language learning process. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 19, 474–490.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behaviour change. *Psychological Review*, 84, 191–215.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Guide to the construction of self-efficacy scales. In F. Pajares & T. Urdan (Eds.), Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents, Vol. 5 (pp.307–337). Greenwich, CT: Information Age.
- Bandura, A. (2012). On the functional properties of perceived self-efficacy revisited. *Journal of Management*, *38*, 9–44.
- Cheng, H. F., & Dörnyei, Z. (2007). The use of motivational strategies in language instruction: The case of EFL teaching in Taiwan. *International Journal of Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching*, 1, 153–174.
- Coetzee-Van Rooy, S. (2006). Integrativeness: Untenable for world Englishes learners? *World Englishes*, 25, 437–450.

- Csizér, K., & Dörnyei, Z. (2005). The internal structure of language learning motivation and its relationship with language choice and learning effort. *Modern Language Journal*, 89, 19–36.
- Csizér, K., Kormos, J. (2009). Learning experiences, selves and motivated learning behaviour: A comparative analysis of structural models for Hungarian secondary and university learners of English. In Z. Dörnyei & E. Ushioda (Eds.), *Motivation, language identity* and the L2 self (pp. 98–119). Bristol, UK: Multilingual Matters.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1997). Intrinsic motivation and effective teaching: A flow analysis. In J.L. Bess (Ed.), *Teaching well and liking it: Motivating faculty to teach effectively* (pp.72–89). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York, NY: Plenum.
- Dörnyei, Z. (1990). Conceptualizing motivation in foreign-language learning. *Language learning*, 40, 45–78.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2005). *The psychology of the language learner*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2009a). Plenary: Motivation and the vision of knowing a second language. In B. Beaven (Ed.), *IATEFL 2008 Exeter conference selections* (pp. 16–22). Canterbury, UK: IATEFL.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2009b). The L2 motivational self-system. In Z. Dörnyei & E. Ushioda (Eds.), *Motivation, language identity and the L2 self* (pp. 9–42). Bristol, UK: Multilingual Matters.
- Dörnyei, Z., & Ottó, I. (1998). Motivation in action: A process model of L2 motivation. *Working Papers in Applied Linguistics*, *4*, 43–69.

- Dörnyei, Z., & Ushioda, E. (2010). *Teaching and researching motivation* (2nd ed.). London, UK: Longman.
- Doyle, T., & Kim, Y.M. (1999). Teacher motivation and satisfaction in the United States and Korea. *MEXTESOL Journal*, 23 (2), 35–48.
- Erkan, D. Y., & Saban, A. İ. (2011). Writing performance relative to writing apprehension, self-efficacy in writing, and attitudes towards writing: A correlational study in Turkish tertiary-level EFL. *The Asian EFL Journal Quarterly*, *13*, 163–191.
- Foss, K. A., & Reitzel, A. C. (1988). A relational model for managing second language anxiety. *Tesol Quarterly*, 22, 437–454.
- Gahungu, O. N. (2007). The relationships among strategy use, self-efficacy, and language ability in foreign language learners. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Northern Arizona University, Arizona, AZ.
- Gardner, R. C. (1985). Social psychology and second language learning: The role of attitudes and motivation. London, UK: Edward Arnold.
- Gardner, R. C. (2001). Integrative motivation and second language acquisition. In Z. Dörnyei & R. Schmidt (Eds.), *Motivation and second language acquisition* (pp. 1–20).
 Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Gardner, R. C. (2006). The socio-educational model of second language acquisition: A research paradigm. *Eurosla Yearbook*, *6*, 237–260.
- Gardner, R. C., & Lambert, W. E. (1972). Attitudes and motivation in second language *learning*. Rowley, MA: Newbury House.
- Gardner, R. C., Tremblay, P. F., & Masgoret, A. (1997). Towards a full model of second language learning: An empirical investigation. *The Modern Language Journal*, 81, 344–362.

- Gasniuk, M. (2012). The relationship between foreign language motivation and anxiety in a minority context (Unpublished master's thesis). Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest.
- Heitzmann, J., Tóth, Zs., & Sheorey, R. (2007). Foreign language anxiety among Hungarian
 EFL teachers: An exploratory study. In R. Sheorey, & J. Kiss-Gulyás (Eds.), *Studies in Applied and Theoretical Linguistics* (pp. 59–73). Debrecen, Hungary: Kossuth
 Egyetemi Kiadó.
- Higgins, E. T. (1987). Self-discrepancy: A theory relating self and affect. *Psychological Review*, *94*, 319–340.
- Horwitz, E. K. (1996). Even teachers get the blues: Recognizing and alleviating language teachers' feelings of foreign language anxiety. *Foreign Language Annals*, 29, 365–372.
- Horwitz, E. K., Horwitz, M. B., & Cope, J. (1986). Foreign language classroom anxiety. *The Modern Language Journal*, 70, 125–132.
- Horwitz, E. K., & Young, D. (1991). Language anxiety: From theory and research to classroom implications. Upper Saddle River, NK: Prentice Hall.
- Huang, S., & Shanmao, C. (1996). Self-efficacy of English as a second language learner: An example of four learners. Bloomington, In: Language Education Department, School of Education, Indiana University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 396 536).
- Kőhalmi, F. (2009). *The motivational profile of teachers* (Unpublished master's thesis). Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest.
- Lambert, W. E. (1963). Psychological approaches to the study of language. *The Modern Language Journal*, 47, 51–62.
- Littlejohn, A. (2008). The tip of the iceberg: Factors affecting learner motivation. *RELC Journal*, *39*, 214–225.

- MacIntyre, P. D. (1995). How does anxiety affect second language learning? A reply to Sparks and Ganschow. *The Modern Language Journal*, 79, 90–99.
- MacIntyre, P. D., & Gardner, R. C. (1989). Anxiety and second language learning: Toward a theoretical clarification. *Language learning*, *39*, 251–275.
- MacIntyre, P. D., & Gardner, R. C. (1991). Methods and results in the study of anxiety and language learning: A review of the literature. *Language Learning*, *41*, 85–117.
- McDonough, S. H. (1981). *Psychology in foreign language teaching*. London, UK: Allen & Unwin.
- Maddux, J.E., & Meier, L.J. (1995). Self-efficacy and depression. In J.E. Maddux (Ed.), Selfefficacy, adaptation, and adjustment: Theory, research, and application (pp. 143–172). New York, NY: Plenum.
- Markus, H., & Nurius, P. (1986). Possible selves. American Psychologist, 41, 954–969.
- Menyhárt, A. (2008). Teachers or lecturers? The motivational profile of university teachers of English. Working Papers in Language Pedagogy, 2, 119–137. Retrieved from <u>http://langped.elte.hu/WoPaLParticles/ W2Menyhart.pdf</u>
- Mills, N., Pajares, F., & Herron, C. (2006). A re-evaluation of the role of anxiety: Selfefficacy, anxiety, and their relation to reading and listening proficiency. Foreign Language Annals, 39(2), 276–295.
- Mills, N., Pajares, F., & Herron, C. (2007). Self-efficacy of college intermediate French students: Relation to achievement and motivation. *Language Learning*, *57*, 417–442.
- Multon, K. D., Brown, S. D., & Lent, R. W. (1991). Relation of self-efficacy beliefs to academic outcomes: A meta-analytic investigation. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 38, 30–38.

- Ness, S. (submitted for publication). The relationships between the teaching motivation, selfefficacy and foreign language anxiety of Hungarian EFL teachers: The results of a questionnaire study. *Working Papers in Language Pedagogy*.
- Nikolov, M. (2001). A study of unsuccessful language learners. In Z. Dörnyei & R. Schmidt (Eds.) *Motivation and second language acquisition* (pp. 149–169). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Noels, K. A. (2001). New orientations in language learning motivation: Towards a model of intrinsic, extrinsic, and integrative orientations and motivation. *Motivation and second language acquisition*, *23*, 43–68.
- Noels, K. A. (2003). Learning Spanish as a second language: Learners' orientations and perceptions of their teachers' communication style. In Z. Dörnyei (Ed.), *Attitudes, orientations, and motivations in language learning* (pp. 97–136). Oxford, UK: Blackwell.
- Oxford, R. L., & Shearin, J. (1994). Language learning motivation: Expanding the theoretical framework. *The Modern Language Journal*, 78, 12–28.
- Pajares, F. (1996). Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings. *Review of Educational Research*, 66, 543–578.
- Pajares, F., & Schunk, D. H. (2001). Self-beliefs and school success: SE, self-concept, and school achievement. In: R. Riding & S. Rayner (Eds.), *Perception* (239–266). London, UK: Alex Publishing.
- Papi, M. (2010). The L2 motivational self-system, L2 anxiety, and motivated behaviour: A structural equation modelling approach. *System*, 38, 467–479.

- Pappamihiel, N. E. (2002). English as a second language students and English language anxiety: Issues in the mainstream classroom. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 327–355.
- Pavlenko, A. (2002). Poststructuralist approaches to the study of social factors in second language learning and use. In V. Cook (Ed.), *Portraits of the L2 user* (pp. 277–302). Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.
- Piniel, K. (2006). Foreign language classroom anxiety: A classroom perspective. In M. Nikolov & J. Horváth (Eds.), UPRT 2006: Empirical studies in English applied linguistics (pp. 39–58). Pécs, Hungary: Lingua Franca Csoport.
- Piniel, K. (2009). The development of foreign language classroom anxiety in secondary school. (Unpublished doctoral thesis). Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest.
- Price, M. L. (1991). The subjective experience of foreign language anxiety: Interviews with highly anxious students. In E. K. Horwitz & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language anxiety: From theory and research to classroom implications*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Raoofi, S., Tan, B. H., & Chan, S. H. (2012). Self-efficacy in second/foreign language learning contexts. *English Language Teaching*, 5(11), 60–73.
- Richards, G. (2009). Psychology: The key concepts. Milton Park, UK: Routledge.
- Shahbaz, M., & Liu, Y. (2012). Complexity of L2 motivation in an Asian ESL setting. Porta Linguarium, 18, 115–131.
- Sparks, R. L., & Ganschow, L. (2007). Is the foreign language classroom anxiety scale measuring anxiety or language skills? *Foreign Language Annals*, 40, 260–287.
- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., & Lushene, R. E. (1970). *The state-trait anxiety inventory*.Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press Inc.

- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., Lushene, R., Vagg, P. R., & Jacobs, G. A. (1983). *Manual for the state-trait anxiety inventory*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Tobias, S. (1986). Anxiety and cognitive processing of instruction. In R. Schwarzer (Ed.), *Self-related cognition in anxiety and motivation* (pp. 35–54). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Tóth, Zs. (2008). A foreign language anxiety scale for Hungarian learners of English. *Working Papers in Language Pedagogy 2*, 55–78.
- Tóth, Zs. (2010). Foreign language anxiety and the advanced language learner: A study of Hungarian students of English as a foreign language. Newcastle upon Tyne, UK: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Usher, E. L., & Pajares, F. (2006). Sources of academic and self-regulatory efficacy beliefs of entering middle school students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *31*, 125–141.
- Ushioda, E. (2001). Language learning at university: Exploring the role of motivational thinking. In Z. Dörnyei & R. Schmidt (Eds.), *Motivation and second language acquisition* (pp. 91–124). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Ushioda, E., & Dörnyei, Z. (2012). Motivation. In S. Gass & A. Mackey (Eds.), *The Routledge handbook of second language acquisition* (pp. 396–409). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Weiner, B. (1992). *Human motivation: Metaphors, theories and research*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Watson, D., & Friend, R. (1969). Measurement of social-evaluative anxiety. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 33, 448–451.
- Xie, Y. (2011). Representations of L2 motivational self-system with beginning Chinese language learners at college level in the United States: Heritage and non-heritage language learners. Ann Arbor, MI: ProQuest

- Yan, J. X., & Horwitz, E. K. (2008). Learners' perceptions of how anxiety interacts with personal and instructional factors to influence their achievement in English: A qualitative analysis of EFL learners in China. *Language Learning*, 58, 151–183.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (1989). A social cognitive view of self-regulated academic learning. Journal of Educational Psychology, 81, 329–339.

Appendix 1

Questionnaire for Hungarian English teachers

I'd like to ask you to help me by answering the following questions concerning foreign language teaching and learning. This is not a test in any way so there are no "*right*" or "*wrong*" answers and you're not required to write your name on it. I'm interested in your personal opinions not what you think the answer should be. Please be as honest as possible when answering as only this will guarantee the success of the investigation. Lastly, thank you very much for your help.

In this section, there are a number of statements which some people agree with and some people don't. I'd like to know to what extent they describe your own feelings or situation. After each statement you'll find five boxes. Using a pen (not a pencil), please put an 'X' in the box which best expresses how true the statement is about your feelings or situation.

	Absolutely true	Mostly true	Partly true, partly untrue	Not really true	Not true at all
l like pizza very much.	Х				

Remember, there are no right or wrong ar	nswers – I an	interested	in your perse	onal opini	ion.
			Partly		

		Absolutely true	Mostly true	Partly true, partly untrue	Not really true	Not true at all
1.	I feel inhibited when speaking in English.					
2.	It is important to teach English well.					
3.	I worry that I am not able to provide my students with an acceptable model of English connected speech (e.g. Assimilation/Elision/Liaison/etc.).					
4.	It is very important for me to teach English.					
5.	I am not willing to enter into free conversation in class for fear my lack of proficiency is revealed.					
6.	I am satisfied with my English listening ability.					
7.	It is very important for me that my students succeed in learning English to the best of their ability.					
8.	I think that I am fluent enough in English.					
9.	I don't feel uncertain when monitoring my students' speaking for mistakes.					
10	. I like working with my students.					
11	. I am satisfied with my English reading ability.					
12	. I am sure that I can answer any questions my students may ask about English grammar.					

Have you answered all the questions? Thank you.

	Absolutely true	Mostly true	Partly true, partly untrue	Not really true	Not true at all
13. If I teach English well, I will achieve the recognition of my colleagues.					
14. I am sure I that I can teach English to students from any first language background.					
15. I am satisfied with my English writing ability.					
16. I am afraid to make mistakes in the classroom.					
17. I am willing to work hard at teaching English.					
 I am sure that I will still be an English teacher in ten years' time. 					
19. I am afraid that some of my students' parents may think my English is not good enough.					
20. I enjoy teaching English.					
21. The things I want to do in the future require me to continually improve my English.					
22. It is important that I am respected in the staff room.					
23. I would like to be able to teach English to people from other countries.					
24. I worry that my listening skills may cause problems when communicating in English.					
25. I am sure that I can teach English to students of all levels of ability (from A1-C2).					
26. I am afraid that some of my colleagues may think my English is not good enough.					
 I worry that my English sentence intonation patterns are negatively influenced by my mother tongue. 					
 If I fail to improve my English teaching skills, I'll be letting my students down. 					
29. I am sure I am able to fully express myself in English.					
 I am sure that I can answer any questions my students may ask about English vocabulary. 					
31. I worry that my English sentence pronunciation is negatively influenced by my mother tongue.					
32. I look forward to my English classes.					
33. I would like to be mistaken for a native speaker.					
 I believe I wouldn't have problems working in a native English speaking environment. 					
35. I would like to think of myself as someone who will be able to speak English as close to native-like proficiency as possible.					

Have you answered all the questions? Thank you.

	Absolutely true	Mostly true	Partly true, partly untrue	Not really true	Not true at all
 I think I speak English better than the average non-native English teacher. 					
 I worry that my English pronunciation of words is negatively influenced by my mother tongue. 					
 If a professional development course were offered by my school and it didn't involve additional working hours or personal expense, I would like to take it. 					
 I worry when I have to pronounce new English words. 					
40. I worry that my pronunciation may be worse than I realise.					
41. Teaching English is fun.					
42. I often get inspired by my students.					
 I am afraid that my students think I do not speak English well enough. 				94- 1	
44. I am sure that my English language teaching ability continues to improve.					
45. If my dreams come true, I will be able to teach English even more effectively in the future.				8	
 I am not satisfied with my ability to understand different English accents. 					
47. I would like to think of myself as someone who will be able to write English as close to native-like proficiency as possible.					
 I am willing to provide relevant additional support for my students in order that they can succeed. 					
 I don't feel uncertain when marking my students' writing. 					
50. I am not satisfied with my English pronunciation.					
51. I like designing tasks for my students.					
52. If I fail to improve my English teaching skills, I'll be letting other people down (not including your students).					
53. I don't feel confident when speaking English.		4 		-	
54. I am afraid that my students will ask me how to say something I do not know in English.					
55. I worry that what I want to say may not be fully understood when communicating in English.					
56. I am satisfied with my English speaking ability.					
57. If I teach English well, it can positively affect my students' career opportunities.					

Have you answered all the questions? Thank you.

	Absolutely true	Mostly true	Partly true, partly untrue	Not really true	Not true at all
58. I am sure that I can teach English to students of all ages.					
 I worry about teaching some of the more advanced areas of English for fear I may make mistakes. 					
60. The quality of my teaching is acknowledged in my school.				fi-	
 I am sure that I can teach English in any context (e.g. children/adults/business/exams/legal English/financial English/etc.). 					
62. I try to avoid situations where I have to speak English.					

That's the end of the main section. You're almost finished now, just a few questions left.

Finally, please answer these few personal questions. Remember that all information provided is both anonymous and confidential.

63.	What is you	r gender? (I	Please circle): I	Male	Female				
64.	How old are	you? (Plea	se circle):	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	60+		
65.	What is you	r first langua	age? (Please	e circle):	Hungaria	n Spanis	h Oth	er:		
66. Which other languages do you speak? Please also indicate your level of ability for each language (A1 - C2).										
67. Which teaching qualifications you have? (Please circle):										
	BA	MA	PHD	CEI	TA	DELTA	Other:			
68. How many complete years have you been teaching English? (Please only include time spent working as a teacher):										
69. Which type of school do you currently work for? (Please circle):										
általános iskola			ke	kéttannyelvű általános iskola			gimnázium			
kéttannyelvű gimnázium			ium	szakközépiskola		főiskola	egy	etem		
70. What is the highest level that you currently teach? (Please circle):										
	A1	A2	B1	B2	C1	C2				
71. Have you ever lived in an English speaking country? (Please circle): Yes No Please specify where and for how long:										

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this investigation, your time and patience is much appreciated.

Have you answered all the questions? Thank you.